FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 27 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STEVEN STEIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,460

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

A Duval County grand jury indicted Steven Edward Stein on February 7, 1991 for the first degree murder of Dennis Saunders, the first degree murder of Bobby Hood, and armed robbery. (R 11-12). Stein entered a written plea of not guilty on February 22, 1991. (R 19-20) On May 28, 1991, Stein proceeded to a jury trial. (TR 179) The jury found Stein guilty as charged on June 20, 1991. (R 317-321, TR 841-842) On the murder counts, the jury return specific verdict forms finding Stein guilty of both premeditated and felony murder. (R 317-320) After hearing additional evidence at the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended the death sentence for each of the two murders. (R 330-331, TR 916)

Circuit Judge David C. Wiggins adjudged Stein guilty of all three counts and sentenced him to death for each of the two murders and to life imprisonment for the armed robbery. (R 348-368) In support of the death sentences, the court five aggravating circumstances: (1) previous conviction for a violent felony based upon the contemporaneous murders of the two victims; (2) the homicides occurred during the commission of a robbery; (3) the homicides were committed to avoid arrest; (4) the homicides were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (5) the homicides were cold, calculated, and premeditated. (R 359-362) In mitigation, the court found one statutory mitigating circumstance that Stein had no significant history

of prior criminal activity. (R 362-365) Prior to sentencing, the judge ordered and considered a presentence investigation report. (TR 919-924)

Stein timely filed notice of appeal to this court. (R 380A, 384)

Facts -- Guilt Phase

On January 21, 1991, Silvia Ring went to work at the Pizza Hut restaurant on Edgewood in Jacksonville. (TR 442-443) her brother drove her to work, she arrived early, at about 7:00 a.m. (TR 444) Her job was to open the restaurant and prepare the dough for the pizzas. (TR 444) When she went inside that morning, she notice that the door was already unlocked and the vacuum cleaner was still out from having been used the night before to clean the restaurant. (TR 444-445) She began to look around to determine if anyone was present. (TR 445-446) She found nothing in the ladies bathroom and started to walk to the kitchen. (TR 445) However, she decided to look into the men's room as well. (TR 446) She opened the first door going into the restroom and noticed a puddle of blood on the floor. (TR 447) Initially, she thought she must be mistaken and she opened the second door. (TR 447) She saw two bodies in pizza hut uniforms lying on the floor . (TR 447) Ring immediately left the restaurant, ran down the street to another restaurant which was open, and someone there called the police. (TR 447-448)

Officer C.L. Sharman arrived at the Pizza Hut. (TR 452-453) He immediately went inside to the men's restroom and observed the two bodies on the floor. (TR 453-455) He called for rescue personnel and crime scene investigators. (TR 457-459)

Crime scene technician, P.C. Talamo, photographed the scene and collected evidence. (TR 475-510) He found no evidence of a point of forceful entry into the restaurant. (TR The interior of the restaurant appeared as if someone had been in the process of cleaning. (TR 478-479) The chairs were on the tables, lights were on inside the kitchen, the vacuum cleaner was sitting on the floor, and the carpeting appeared not to have been vacuumed. (TR 478-479) He found some drops of blood leading from the bathroom area through the dining room to the outside parking lot. (TR 493) There were dried blood stains on the outside of the second, inner door, of the men's restroom. (TR 478) There was a large amount of blood in the bathroom areas where the two male victims were located. (TR 488-489) There was blood on the walls and floor of the bathroom. (TR 492) There were two shoe prints in blood which were visible in the hall area outside the bathroom door which proved to be made by one of the fireman responding to the scene. (TR 492, 509-510) Talamo recovered several bullet fragments from the bathroom area and eight cartridge casings. (TR 482, 484, 489)

Loretta Horn, the manager of the Pizza Hut, identified the victims as her evening shift supervisors, Bobby Hood and Dennis

Saunders. (TR 511-513) She stated that their responsibilities were to run the restaurant, including taking responsibility for the money and keeping track of the money in the cash register. (TR 513-514) Horn testified that the two men would have keys to the safe. (TR 514-515) She explained that it requires two keys to open the safe, and once the lock is activated, a timing device requires ten minutes before the safe will open. (TR 515-516) She determined that approximately \$908 was missing from the safe. (TR 517-518) In the cash register area, she found an unpaid guest check relating to table designated A-3 in the restaurant. (TR 518, 522) A later examination of the check revealed a fingerprint belonging to Marc Christmas, who was a former employee at the Pizza Hut on Edgewood Avenue. (TR 519-522, 647-654, 448-449) Christmas was on work release at the time he was hired at the restaurant. (TR 524-525) Additionally, Christmas' girlfriend, Kim Brinson, was, at one time, the manager of the Pizza Hut. (TR 449)

Dr. Margarita Arruza, associate medical examiner, performed the autopsies on Bobby Hood and Dennis Saunders (TR 526-530) She found that Bobby Hood suffered five gunshot wounds -- four to the head and one in the chest. (TR 531) All of the wounds were caused by .22 caliber bullets. One bullet entered the left forehead at a slightly downward angle and travelled through the cranial cavity to the back of the head. (TR 532) Because of stippling around the wound, Arruza concluded the firearm was six to eight inches away at the time of the shot. (TR 533) The second wound entered the left temple and

traveled through the brain at the mid-line area. (TR 534) Based upon the stippling around this wound, the doctor was of the opinion that the firearm was probably four to six inches away at the time of the shot. (TR 537) The third gunshot wound entered the jaw on the left side, traveling from left to right at a downward angle. (TR 537-538) Again, the powder burns around the wound were consistent with being four to six inches away. (TR 538) The fourth wound was a through and through shot to the left side of the head, which barely fractured the skull. (TR 539) The bullet did not penetrate the cranial cavity. (TR 539) The fifth was to the chest entering just below the collarbone and traveling through the lung. (TR 539-540) It had a deep downward angle to the wound, and based upon powder burns left on the shirt, the doctor concluded the firearm was about six inches away. (TR 541) Arruza found no other injuries to Bobby Hood's body which would indicate a struggle or fight at the time of the shooting. (TR 551) She concluded that the cause of death was multiple close-range gunshot wounds. (TR 552) She was of the opinion, based upon the blood splatters at the scene and the angle of the wounds, that Bobby Hood was sitting down at the time of the shots. (TR 552-553)

Arruza also performed the autopsy on Dennis Saunders. (TR 556) He suffered four gunshot wounds. (TR 559) One wound entered the right side of the back of the neck and exited on the opposite side of the neck. (TR 559) The second wound entered the right shoulder and traveled right to left at a slightly upward angle and only involved the soft tissues. (TR

560) Based on the gun powder residue left on the shirt, the medical examiner concluded the gun was about eight inches away at the time of the shot. (TR 561) The third wound entered the left side of the chest and exited through the armpit and struck every vital organ in the chest. (TR 561) The bullet traveled through the right lung, through the aorta to the esophagus, through the left lung, where the bullet was recovered. (TR 561) The fourth wound was to the front side of the left thigh, and the bullet was recovered within the muscle of the thigh. (TR 563) The doctor recovered three bullets from Dennis Saunders body (TR 564) and four from the body Bobby Hood. (TR 532, 534, 538, 540) Arruza was of the opinion that Saunders was initially on the floor at the time the shots began and was moving around during the shooting because of the various angles of the wounds. (TR 570-571)

Kyle White, Marc Christmas, and Steven Stein were roommates. (TR 596-598) White and Stein had lived in a trailer together since September of 1990, and Marc Christmas moved into the trailer the first week of January, 1991. (TR 598) Stein was working as a cook at the Pizza Hut on Lem Turner Road. (TR 599) Christmas was not working in January of 1990, and relied on his girlfriend, Kimberly Brinson, for spending money. (TR 599) Brinson was an assistant manager at the Pizza Hut on Lem Turner Road where Stein also worked as a cook. (TR 599-600) About a week before January 20, 1991, the day of the homicides, White, Christmas and Stein had a conversation about how to rob a Pizza Hut restaurant. (TR 609-617) White said that he over

heard Marc Christmas telling Steven Stein that they needed to keep "it" to themselves and could not trust Kyle. (TR 609) Stein indicated that Kyle could be trusted, and Marc began to ask him questions about the alarm system on Lem Turner Road. (TR 610) Kyle had worked at the Pizza Hut at the location in the past. (TR 600) During the conversation, Stein mentioned another Pizza Hut on Edgewood Avenue. (TR 610) Kyle told Marc that the alarm system at the Pizza Hut on Lem Turner would be difficult to beat. (TR 611) Marc then brought up the idea of killing the manager, Jope Vanderberg, as he was making a bank deposit. (TR 611-614) White testified that Christmas said that Vanderberg was "on a hit list of some sort." (TR 611) After defense counsel's objection and motion for mistrial denied, the prosecutor had White explain that when he said they talked about making a hit on Vanderberg, they meant to kill him in order to rob him of the bank deposit. (TR 613-614) Marc then said he had worked at the Edgewood Avenue and knew that there was no alarm system there. (TR 615) They also discussed the fact that there was a timer on the safe and it would take about 20 minutes to open. (TR 616) Marc then shifted back to the idea of killing the manager as he was making the bank deposit. (TR 616) White mentioned that a gunshot in the neighborhood would draw a lot of attention. (TR 616) White also explained to them the Pizza Hut policy of cooperating with robbers. (TR 616) According to White, both Stein and Christmas said that there could be no witnesses. (TR 617) Marc then asked to borrow White's motorcycle to follow the manager for a week or

so. (TR 616) White testified that he then realized that this was a serious discussion and he wanted no part of it. (TR 617) He refused to loan his motorcycle. (TR 617)

On the day of the homicide, Sunday, January 20, 1991, Marc Christmas, Steven Stein, and Stein's girlfriend, Christine Moss, spent the afternoon at the trailer. (TR 574-579, 617-619) Christine arrived at the trailer around 1:30 and Kyle White came home to the trailer about 4:00. (TR 579, 618) Marc and Steven left the trailer around 9:30. (TR 579, 618) Steven was wearing a blue and black plaid flannel shirt, blue jeans, black army boots, and a black leather jacket. (TR 585, 618) Steven wore his hair in a very short crew cut. (TR 585, 629) Marc Christmas was wearing blue jeans, a camouflage jacket, a T-shirt, and a pair of desert boots. (TR 585, 629) Marc wore his hair long at that time. (TR 586) Steven was carrying his Marlin, semi-automatic .22 rifle. (TR 586-587, 620-621) He said they were going to Marc's father's house to sell him the rifle for \$100. (TR 587, 629) Kyle White testified that on New Year's Eve, the three of them had fired the rifle from the front porch of the trailer. (TR 628-629) Marc and Steven borrowed Christine Moss' automobile and left. (TR 587-588) Marc and Steve returned around 11:30 to 11:45 p.m. (TR 591-623) Marc, Steven, Christine, and Kyle then drove to get gasoline in the car, beer and snacks. (TR 591, 623-624)

Leonard Christmas, Marc's father, testified that he did not see his son on the evening of January 20, 1991, never loaned him any money, and had never seen Steven Stein. (TR

639-641) He also said that he never bought a .22 caliber rifle from Stein. (TR 642)

Ronald Burroughs worked at the Pizza Hut on Edgewood Avenue. (TR 423-424) He left the restaurant on January 20, 1991 at 11:15 p.m. (TR 424) The shift supervisors, Bobby Hood and Dennis Saunders, were still inside the restaurant. Borroughs left, all of the customers except two had left the restaurant. (TR 425) Two white males who had been seated at table A-3, remained in the restaurant. (TR 425-428) The men were at the cash register as Burroughs left. (TR 428-429) A man with long black hair, camouflage jacket and blue jeans and white tennis shoes carried the guest check. (TR 429-430) other man, who wore a black leather jacket, had short blond hair, wore black acid-washed pants, and black boots. (TR 430) In court, he identified the man with the black leather jacket as Steven Stein. (TR 430-431) He identified a photograph as being the man with Steven that night. (TR 431-432) The photograph was received as state's exhibit #1. (TR 431) Burroughs identified in the photograph was having a conversation with Bobby Hood. (TR 433-436) By the way they were talking, Burroughs was of the opinion that the man and Bobby Hood knew each other. (TR 436-437) They were talking about things they had done in the past. (TR 437) The man apparently asked for the manager of the Pizza Hut, saying he would like to work for that Pizza Hut again. (TR 437) Burroughs said as he left the restaurant, the man he identified in the photograph shut and locked the door. (TR 438) As Burroughs was leaving,

he observed Stein looking through the glove box of his car on the passenger side. (TR 439) Burroughs observed him take something out of the front part of the car and put in his jacket and walk back toward the restaurant. (TR 439) Someone unlocked the restaurant for him and he went inside as Burroughs rode away on his bicycle. (TR 139, 441) The item he put in his jacket was a small item. (TR 441) Steven Stein normally carried a .38 caliber pistol. (TR 595)

On January 22, 1991, Marc and Steven purchased a motor-cycle. (TR 592-594, 643-646, 625-626) They made a down payment of \$500 in cash and agreed to pay \$50 a week. (TR 643-646) They also purchased a helmet for \$199 (TR 593), and they purchased a second helmet for \$50. (TR 626)

On January 23, 1991, a search warrant was executed on the trailer where Stein, Christmas, and White lived. (TR 673-681) During the execution of the warrant, White arrived at the residence and later, Christmas and Stein drove up on a motorcycle. (TR 676, 710-711) Detective Carl Thorwart arrested Christmas and Stein. (TR 709-711) White spoke with detective Scott and later turned over three expended .22 caliber casings. (TR 678) The ballistics expert later compared these casings with those found at the scene of the homicide and concluded that they were fired from the same firearm. (TR 682-686, 698-699) A box in which a Marlin .22 caliber rifle had been purchased was found in the residence. (TR 675)

After his arrest, Stein gave a statement to Detective Carl Thorwart and Detective Quinn Baxter. (TR 711-729, 731-734)

Detective Baxter asked Steven what happened in the Pizza Hut that night. (TR 718) Stein responded that he and Marc Christmas planned to rob the restaurant and that of the victims, Bobby Hood, knew Marc because Marc had worked in that restaurant in the past. (TR 718-719). Baxter asked how much money was obtained in the robbery and Stein responded \$900. (TR 719) Stein was asked who got the money and he said that Marc obtained the money. (TR 719) Stein said that the two of them bought a motorcycle paying \$500 and spent the rest of the money on items for the trailer. (TR 719-720) According to Detective Thorwart, Stein said that he and Marc and the two victims were the only ones present in the restaurant. (TR 720) When asked about why so many shots were fired, Stein allegedly said the robbery went bad. (TR 720, 731-734)

Detective Thorwart seized clothing from Stein which included a black helmet and gloves and a leather jacket. (TR 721-722) He also seized a camouflage jacket from Marc Christmas and a helmet and other clothing. (TR 722-723) He found some money on Marc Christmas, \$108.58. (TR 724) He found no evidence of cuts or bleeding wounds on Stein at the time of his arrest. (TR 725) There was a older wound on Stein's hand. (TR 726-727)

Motion To Suppress Statements

Stein moved to suppress statements given to Detective Thorwart and Detective Baxter. (TR 79-116, R 178) Two

witnesses testified at the hearing. Detective Baxter and Steven Stein. (TR 79, 97)

The detectives began interviewing Stein on the day of his arrest, January 23, 1991, at approximately 11:30 p.m. (TR 80-81) Baxter stated that Detective Thorwart advised Stein of his constitutional rights and Stein signed a waiver of rights form. (TR 81-83) The form was introduced into evidence as state's exhibit #1 for the hearing. (TR 83) Detective Thorwart advised Stein that he was under for two counts of murder. (TR 84) Stein stated, "I got to talk to a lawyer." "I am in a lot of trouble." "I am in real bad trouble here." "I think I need to consult with a lawyer." (TR 84) At that time, Thorwart said that was his right. (TR 84) Stein then said, "I'd like to talk." "I am a new Christian, approximately been a new Christian for approximately a year." (TR 84-85) At that point, Baxter said, "That the good thing about a God, he would forgive people for what they have done." (TR 85) After that, Stein said that I'd like to talk, can you give me a minute. (TR 85) Thorwart then advised Stein that they could not legally talk to him because he invoked his rights to a lawyer. (TR 85) Thorwart and Baxter then left the room and allowed Stein to smoke a cigarette. (TR 85) Baxter said they had no intent of going back into the room. (TR 85) Baxter said that he spoke to Stein about God forgiving people because he was Christian and it was an off-hand comment to him. (TR 85) Baxter said it was not made with the intent to persuade Stein to talk. (TR 85-86) When the detectives left the room, they advised Stein that they

couldn't talk to him unless he wanted to talk to them. (TR 86) Stein was not transported back to the jail immediately. (TR 86) At about 11:55 p.m., Stein knocked on the door where the two detectives were located. (TR 86) Stein said, "I want to talk about part of it." (TR 86) The detectives readvised Stein of his constitutional rights and had him execute a second rights form. (TR 87-88) There was a notation on the second rights form written by Detective Thorwart stating that Stein asked to talk to the detectives. (TR 88-89) Baxter said the note was placed on the form before Stein executed it. (TR 89) Stein then gave the statement which was introduced during the trial. (TR 89)

Steven Stein also testified. (TR 97) He stated that he had drank a twelve-pack of beer the day of his arrest. (TR 97-98) He recalled seeing a form and signing the form advising him of his rights. (TR 98) He signed both forms. (TR 98) On signing the first form, he stated that he wanted a lawyer. (TR 98) He said he asked for a lawyer at least three times. (TR Stein said they told him that an attorney could not help 99) him and that the attorney would tell him not to talk, and they already had enough evidence to put him in Raiford. (TR 99) They said all he could do by talking was help himself. (TR 99) The detectives left the room for a short time, and Stein asked for a lawyer again. (TR 99) He said the detectives were out of the room for about five minutes. (TR 99) They said they were going to give to think about whether he wanted to talk or not. (TR 99) Between that time and the time he left the room he had

asked for a lawyer three times. (TR 99) They came back into the room, and Stein asked for a lawyer again. He did sign another rights form asking for a lawyer at that time. (TR 100) Stein said he did not know why he didn't get a lawyer. (TR 100) The detectives said they had a lot of evidence against him. (TR 100) Baxter told him that God would forgive him for whatever he did. (TR 100) He said after the second time he signed the right form, he told the detectives he still didn't want to talk. He said he did not sign any other forms except the two rights forms. He denied making any statements. (TR 102) On cross-examination, Stein said he understood his rights. (TR 103-104)

The trial court denied the motion. (TR 116) The court found that the statements were freely and voluntarily made and that Stein initiated the conversation with the police officers of his volition. (TR 116) The court further found that the statement Baxter made about being a Christian did not raise the response to being any type of inducement. (TR 116)

Penalty Phase -- Sentencing

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