FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

JUN 16 1992

STEVEN EDWARD STEIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,460

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL #300179 Assistant Attorney General

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

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

"accomplice" and domination mitigating circumstances not error, where, even though defendant did not personally kill victims, he participated in the felony and was present when crime planned and loot divided); Jacobs v. State, 396 So.2d 1113. (Fla.1981)(death penalty not disproportionate where triggerman" received life sentence). Reversible error has not been demonstrated.

Appellant's other complaint is equally not well taken. Initially, the state would question whether defense counsel below complied with the dictates of Lucas, in "identifying for the court the specific nonstatutory mitigating circumstances he was attempting to establish." Lucas, 568 So.2d at 24. While defense counsel did, in closing argument, make one brief reference to Stein's alleged "good side," the state would respectfully contend that such was not specific enough. Cf. Hodges, supra (defendant's complaint that sentencing order did not specifically address his childhood, educational background, close family relationships and employment history as nonstatutory mitigation, rejected where defendant did not point out to the judge the nonstatutory mitigators which he felt that he had established). A similar result is dictated sub judice. Additionally, the state respectfully questions how Stein's alleged goodness with children, the only nonstatutory mitigator arguably established below, "ameliorated the enormity of his quilt," see Lucas, supra, Eutzy v. State, 458 So.2d 755, 759 (Fla.1984), such that it could be considered truly mitigating in nature.

The trial court in his order expressly stated that he had considered all the nonstatutory mitigating evidence presented, and any lack of clarity in the order and/or any failure of the sentencer to weigh the amorphous "good brother/good boyfriend" testimony presented was, at worst, harmless error. See, e.g., Downs v. State, 572 So.2d 895, 901 (Fla.1990); Cook v. State, 581 So.2d 141, 144 (Fla.1991)(trial court's failure to discuss nonstatutory mitigation in order, relating to defendant being a follower, nonviolent, good worker and family member, harmless error, "in view of double murder involved in the case"); Wickham, 194 (sentencer's failure to find and weigh So.2d at mitigating evidence concerning defendant's abusive childhood, alcoholism, extensive history of hospitalization for mental disorders and related matters harmless error, in light of very strong case for aggravation); Pace v. State, 17 FLW S205 (Fla. March 26, 1992) ("Even if one or more nonstatutory mitigating factors were wrongfully rejected, such would be harmless error"). instant sentences of death should be affirmed in all The respects.

Finally, although Appellant has not expressly raised this matter, the state would suggest that the instant death sentences are not disproportionate. This case bears great similarity to Cook, supra. In that case, the defendant and two accomplices robbed a Burger King and murdered two of the employees. This Court found the death sentence appropriate, even though such sentence was only applied as to the sentence imposed for the murder of one victim, where, as here, the defendant had no

significant criminal history; Cook was, however, if anything, less aggravated than the instant case, in that in Cook, there was no evidence of a prearranged plan to kill all witnesses. This case is also similar to Jones v. State, 411 So.2d 165 (Fla.1982), and Meeks v. State, 339 So.2d 186 (Fla.1976), both of which involved convenience or liquor store robberies in which the defendant and his accomplices forced the victims to lie on the floor and then executed them systematically by gunpoint. many appellants who appear before this Court, Steven Stein can point to no truly mitigating factor in his past, i.e., no abusive childhood or major mental illness, which could explain or even partially excuse his criminal conduct. Rather, it is clear that he and his codefendant simply chose to execute two other human beings, so that they could have a motorcycle. In light of the substantial aggravation and dearth of mitigation, the instant sentences are clearly appropriate, and should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT: POINT V

FUNDAMENTAL ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, IN REGARD TO THE ADMISSION OF TESTIMONY AT THE PENALTY PHASE CONCERNING STEIN'S CARRYING OF A CONCEALED WEAPON.

Appellant contends that his sentences of death must be reversed, because, at the penalty phase, Detective Thorwart testified, without objection, that Stein, at the time of arrest, had been carrying a loaded .38 caliber pistol in his jacket; the witness further stated that carrying a concealed firearm was a third degree felony (TR 852-3). Stein maintains that this

inadmissible, as representing a nonstatutory testimony was aggravating factor which irretrievably tainted his sentencing proceeding. Appellee disagrees, and would initially note that no claim of error has been preserved in this regard. No contemporaneous objection was interposed in regard to the admission of this testimony, and, accordingly, any claim in this regard has been waived. See Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595, 602 (Fla.1991)(claim that improper evidence admitted at penalty phase waived, in absence of objection); Bertolotti v. State, supra (In order for claim to be raised on appeal, matter must first been presented to trial court); Steinhorst, supra.

To the extent that this Court disagrees, reversible error has nevertheless not been demonstrated. It is well established that the scope of evidence which may be admitted at the penalty phase in a capital case is broader than that at trial, given the fact, inter alia, that the purpose of such sentencing proceeding is to engage in a "character analysis" of the defendant. e.g., Elledge, supra; Hildwin v. State, 531 So.2d 124 (Fla.1988); Additionally, it is only appellate counsel's Hodges, supra. position that this evidence constituted nonstatutory aggravation (Initial Brief at 52). In his closing argument, the prosecutor towards rebutting contended that this evidence went mitigating circumstance of no significant criminal history, under § 921.141(6)(a) (TR 892). Under Florida law, the admission of this evidence was clearly proper for this purpose. Lucas, 568 So.2d at 22, n.6 (arrest or other evidence of criminal activity, without convictions, may be used to rebut mitigating

circumstance relating to lack of significant criminal history; evidence presented that defendant had "broken into" victims home properly admitted); Walton v. State, 547 So.2d 622, 625 (Fla.1989)(direct evidence of defendant's drug activity properly admitted to rebut mitigating circumstance); Washington v. State, 362 So.2d 658, 666-7 (Fla.1978)(testimony concerning apparently uncharged burglary and dealing in stolen property properly admitted to rebut this mitigating factor). Additionally, the judge expressly instructed the jury that they could not consider this matter as an aggravating factor (TR 909-910).

Further, assuming that any error was committed sub judice, such was unquestionably harmless under State v. DiGuilio, supra. First of all, it must be noted that the judge did, in fact, find this mitigating circumstance (R 363). Secondly, defense counsel below made use of this testimony during his closing argument, in support of his contention that Stein was unlikely to have actually committed these murders, because he was in possession of a different qun, i.e., the .38 caliber pistol, as opposed to the caliber rifle, which was the murder weapon (TR 904). Finally, given the strength of the aggravating circumstances sub judice, no reasonable possibility exists that the admission of See, e.g., Rogers, 511 this evidence effected the sentences. (admission of evidence concerning defendant's So.2d at 533 restaurant, representing violent outburst in aggravating factor, harmless error at penalty phase). The instant sentences should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT: POINT VI

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL, DURING THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT AT THE PENALTY PHASE, WAS NOT ERROR.

Stein next contends that his sentences of death must be reversed due to improper prosecutorial argument. Specifically, Appellant suggests that the prosecutor sought to invoke sympathy for the victims, and maintains that reversal is mandated under such precedents as Taylor v. State, 583 So.2d 323 (Fla.1991), Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla.1988) and Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla.1985). Appellee disagrees, and would question the present preservation of at least a portion of Stein's claim.

The record does, in fact, indicate that the prosecutor began his closing argument at the penalty phase by briefly seeking to humanize the victims, pointing out their ages, occupations and the fact that one was married and had a child (TR 871-2). this juncture, defense counsel announced that he had a motion to make, and stated that he was moving for a new penalty phase, "because of that comment about he's a father of a child and that sort of thing, that is improper comment." (TR 872). prosecutor indicated that he was aware that extended "victim comment" was improper, but stated that he simply wished to present the victims in the context of the case (TR 872). judge then denied defense counsel's motion, and the prosecutor briefly pointed out that the victims had been "human beings" who "were trying to earn an honest living to support themselves," before Appellant executed them; he also pointed out that Stein

had ended the victims' "God given right to live a full life and experience life in its fullest." (TR 873). No contemporaneous objection was interposed in regard to these latter remarks (TR 873). Subsequently, defense counsel did object to two other portions of the prosecutor's closing argument, on the grounds that "victim impact," in violation of Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987), had been introduced (TR 884, 899-900); no claim of error is presented in regard to these latter objections.

Appellee would suggest that no claim of error is preserved in regard to the prosecutor's reference to the victims' given right to live," or any portion of the prosecutor's argument after the initial objection (Initial Brief at 54), in that no contemporaneous objection was interposed thereto. See, e.g., State, 461 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla.1984)(contemporaneous objection rule applies to prosecutorial argument in capital fact that Appellant objected both prior and cases). The subsequent to these remarks does not relieve him of obligation to contemporaneously object. See, e.g., Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744, 747 (Fla.1986) (prior expression of "concern" cannot "bootstrap" or substitute for lack of subsequent objection to matter); Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336, 1340-1 (Fla.1990)(motion for mistrial at close of prosecutor's argument insufficient to preserve point in absence of contemporaneous objection); Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 864 (Fla.1987) (motion for mistrial on specific ground cannot preserve unobjected to portions of closing argument for review). It cannot be contended that defense counsel would have regarded further objection in

this vein as "futile," given the fact that, as noted, he did in fact subsequently object on these grounds to two other portions of the prosecutor's argument. Because Appellant failed to afford the judge below the opportunity to correct any error, see Nixon, supra, this portion of Stein's claim is barred.

Additionally, as to the objection itself, it must be noted that it was general in the extreme, and this Court has demanded great specificity in this area. See Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343, 1345 (Fla.1990)(objections to admission of evidence insufficiently specific to preserve "victim impact" claim); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d at 641 (general objection followed by motion for mistrial insufficient to preserve claim as to prosecutorial argument). At minimum, the objection below can hardly be said to preserve any claim of error based upon the Florida Constitution, as asserted on appeal (Initial Brief at 55). See, e.g., Forrester v. State, 565 So.2d 391, 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(Appellant's claim based upon the Florida Constitution not properly presented on appeal, where such never presented to trial court).

Additionally, this Court, as well as others, has held that brief "humanizing" remarks concerning homicide victims, which do not contain any discussion of victim "worth," do not constitute a basis for reversal. See Payne v. Tennessee, ____ U.S. ____, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991)(overruling Booth and South Carolina v. Gathers, 490 So.2d 805 (Fla.1989)); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503, 1524, n.19 (11th Cir.1989); Owen v. State, 17 FLW S71 (Fla. Jan. 23, 1992)(introduction of victim impact

testimony harmless error, where judge did not give such any weight at sentencing); Hodges, supra; Watts, supra (prosecutor's comment to the effect that the life of the victim's wife "would never be the same," insufficient basis for reversal, in light of record); Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 48 (Fla.1991)(brief testimony and argument which focused upon loss suffered by victim's family and friends and victim's personal characteristics insufficient basis for relief); Freeman v. State, 563 So.2d 73, 75-6 (Fla.1990)(testimony of victim's wife at penalty phase and prosecutor's reference to victim as father and householder insufficient basis for relief); Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1989) (Booth error harmless, where sentencing order contained no reference to victim impact information); Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936, 941-2 (Fla.1984)(prosecutor's reference to victim's family insufficient basis for reversal, where prosecutor's appeal to jury's sympathies was "of minor impact"); Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla.1984)(prosecutor's comparison of victim's "rights" with those of defendant insufficient basis mistrial); Johnson 442 v. State, So.2d 185. (Fla.1983) (prosecutor's reference to victim's family insufficient basis for mistrial).

The remarks at bar undoubtedly were of "minor impact," if that, in this case, and did not render the sentencing proceeding unfair, see Darden v. State, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla.1976); any error was harmless under DiGuilio, supra. It is clear that the sentencing judge did not rely upon these arguments in sentencing Stein to death, and Appellee can see little similarity between

this case and Taylor, upon which Appellant relies; it should be noted that the argument condemned in Taylor was expressly found to be harmless in three other cases. See Hudson, supra; Jackson, supra; Hodges, supra. The instant sentences of death should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT: POINT VII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE REVERSIBLE ERROR, IN REGARD TO HIS MULTIFACETED ATTACK UPON THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

As his final claim, Appellant contends that his death sentences must be reversed due to several alleged infirmities in the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance, § 921.141(5)(h). Appellant renews his attack upon the finding of this aggravating factor, and suggests that the jury should never have been instructed upon it. Appellant likewise contends that the prosecutor's argument to the jury, in support of their finding in this factor, was improper. Finally, Appellant suggests that the instruction actually given the jury in this case violated Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988).Appellee would contend that reversible error has not demonstrated, and will address each of Stein's claims.

(A) The giving of a jury instruction on the aggravating factor was not error.

Appellant initially contends that because the evidence did not support an instruction on this factor, it was error for the court to have even allowed the jury to consider it. The state disagrees. Appellee would note that no contemporaneous objection was interposed in regard to the fact that the court instructed

the jury on this aggravating circumstance (TR 846-7; 907-914).4 This Court has consistently held that contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve claims of this nature for review. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(d); Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147. (Fla.1982); Dougan State, 470 So.2d 697. (Fla.1985)("Absent a specific contemporaneous objection, instruction cannot be complained about on appeal"). Indeed, in Sochor v. Florida, U.S. (June 8, 1992), the United States Supreme Court recognized that this Court consistently applies procedural bar in circumstances such as that sub judice. Accordingly, this claim is waived.

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